0 | Q

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 73,651

ENTERPRISE LEASING COMPANY, a corporation,

Petitioner,

vs .

SHEDRICK ALMON,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE JUN 12 1989 PLERK, SU IVIME COURT Deputy Clark

ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Charles M. Johnston Florida Bar No. 264741 121 West Forsyth Street Tenth Floor Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Attorneys for Petitioner

(٨

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In February of 1986, Petitioner, Enterprise Leasing Company, leased a motor vehicle to Olivia Adams pursuant to a contract which contained a provision that no one else could use the vehicle without Petitioner's consent.¹ On March 1, 1986, without obtaining such consent, Ms. Adams loaned the car to Steve Almon, Respondent's brother, and Steve Almon took possession of and control over the vehicle. (Deposition of Steve Almon pp. 14-15). Later that same evening, Respondent's brother allowed Respondent to use the car. (Deposition of Steve Almon p. 16; Deposition of Respondent pp. 36-38). Respondent wanted to go out that evening, but Respondent did not have an automobile. (Deposition of Respondent pp. 33-38) Respondent's brother loaned him the car upon the condition that he return it. (Deposition of Steve Almon p. 16) After taking possession of the car, Respondent drove to the Jacksonville Riverwalk, stopping on the way to pick up Bill

¹A copy of the lease was attached to the answer of Enterprise Leasing (Record on Appeal p. 5). The specific provision in question provides as follows at paragraph 14:

Renter's or other operators' rights to use or operate the vehicle described, and their rights under paragraph 5 and 6 shall terminate forthwith and be null and void if said vehicle is used, operated, or driven . . by any person other than renter who signed the rental agreement without the written consent of owner or owner's representative endorsed hereon.

In Almon's reply to the affirmative defense of Enterprise Leasing, Almon states at paragraph 3 that Almon admits that the rental contract purported to prohibit the use of the vehicle by third parties, but Almon denied the legal effect of that contractual provision as it applied to his lawsuit against Enterprise Leasing. (Record on Appeal p. 23)

Wise. (Deposition of Respondent pp. 39 and 42). When they left the Riverwalk sometime later that night, Respondent permitted Bill Wise to drive the car. (Deposition of Respondent p. 46). After visiting two private clubs or nightspots, Bill Wise and Respondent proceeded to return home in the car. (Deposition of Respondent pp. 47-49; 50-54). Respondent continued to allow Bill Wise to drive the vehicle. (Deposition of Respondent p. 54) Shortly thereafter, with Wise driving and Respondent in the front passenger seat, a one car accident occurred and Respondent was injured. (Deposition of Respondent pp. 55-58)

Respondent sued Bill Wise alleging that the negligence of Bill Wise caused the accident and Respondent's resulting injuries. Respondent joined Enterprise Leasing in the lawsuit based solely upon Enterprise Leasing's vicarious liability because of its status as owner of the automobile. (Record on Appeal pp. 1-2) The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Petitioner on the grounds that Respondent was not legally entitled to recover against the owner of the vehicle because Respondent was a sub-bailee of the motor vehicle who entrusted the vehicle to the very person whose negligence caused (Summary Final Judgment pp. 1-2) the accident. The First District Court of Appeal reversed finding that the circumstances presented a jury question as to whether Respondent had terminated his status as a bailee and had become solely a passenger at the

-2-

time of the **accident**.² Petitioner timely filed a notice seeking review in the Supreme Court of Florida on the grounds that the First District's opinion conflicted with an opinion of another district court of appeal or a prior opinion of the Supreme Court of Florida. Art. V, $\S3(b)(3)$, Fla. Con. After both Petitioner and Respondent filed briefs on jurisdiction, this Court ordered the parties to submit briefs on the merits and set oral argument for September 11, 1989.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

law, Respondent cannot recover As matter of from а Petitioner for injuries caused by the negligent operation of the motor vehicle driven by Bill Wise. Petitioner leased the automobile to Olivia Adams under the terms of a lease wherein she from allowing was prohibited others to use the car. Notwithstanding this contractual provision, under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality'' doctrine, Petitioner remained liable for injuries to third parties as a result of the negligent However, Respondent does not fall operation of the vehicle. within the umbrella protection of "third parties" as used in applying Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine to automobiles. The Supreme Court of Florida in Ravdel. Ltd. v. Medcalfe, 178 \$0.2d 569 (Fla. 1965), and the Third District Court of Appeal in State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Clauson, 511 So.2d

-3-

²The First District Court's opinion is reported at <u>Almon v.</u> <u>Enterprise Leasing Co.</u>, 537 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), and a copy of the court's opinion is contained in the Appendix to Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction.

1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), have specifically held, as a matter of law, that a bailee or sub-bailee of a vehicle who permits a third party to drive the vehicle cannot recover against the owner for injuries sustained as a result of the negligence of the very person the bailee or sub-bailee placed in control of the vehicle. The rationale for holding that the owner is not liable under such circumstances is that the bailee or sub-bailee had possession and control of the vehicle and was in the best position to insure that the vehicle was used in a safe manner.

The decision of the First District Court below expressly and directly conflicts with both Ravdel and <u>Clauson</u> Under controlling facts not materially different than Ravdel and <u>Clauson</u>, the First District found that a jury question is created as to whether the bailee or sub-bailee regains his status as a passenger once he turns the vehicle over to the negligent driver. Under the undisputed facts set forth in the First District's opinion, the question of Respondent's status was a question of law and not a jury question. More importantly, the First District incorrectly phrased the question to be decided. The question was not whether Respondent had terminated his status as a bailee and regained his status as a passenger; rather, under Ravdel and Clauson, the question was whether Respondent had possession and control of the vehicle and then turned the vehicle over to the driver whose ultimate negligence caused the injuries. There is no dispute that Respondent fell into this latter category and, therefore, as a matter of law, is not legally

-4-

entitled to recover from Petitioner based solely upon Petitioner's status as the owner of the automobile.

ARGUMENT

A SUB-BAILEE, WHO HAS BEEN GIVEN POSSESSION AND CONTROL OF A VEHICLE AND WHO IN TURN ENTRUSTS THE VEHICLE то ANOTHER, CANNOT THE RECOVER AGAINST OWNER FOR INJURIES SUSTAINED AS A PASSENGER DUE TO THE NEGLIGENT DRIVING OF THE VERY PERSON HE PLACED IN CONTROL OF THE VEHICLE.

The "Dangerous Instrumentality" Doctrine

Respondent seeks to hold Petitioner liable in this case under Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine based solely on Petitioner's ownership of the automobile in question. At common law, liability for damage caused by the negligent operation of a motor vehicle by another could not normally be predicated against an owner merely by virtue of his ownership. Am. Jur, 2d Automobiles and Highway Traffic §571 and cases cited at footnote 3, infra, In Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co., 73 Fla. 856, 74 So. 975 (Fla. 1917) and Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920), the Supreme Court of Florida was one of the first jurisdictions to carve out an exception to this common law principle. The court based its decision on the "dangerous instrumentality" doctrine as that doctrine had been previously applied in cases involving such traditionally dangerous instrumentalities as poisons, loaded firearms, explosives and locomotives. Id. 86 So. 631. After examining statistics relating to injuries and death caused by motor vehicles, the Supreme Court concluded that an automobile as

-5-

it is normally used on the public highways is an inherently dangerous instrumentality. Under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, therefore, the court held that an owner of an automobile is vicariously liable for damage caused by another using it with his express or implied permission.3

The rationale underlying the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is that the owner has the ability to ensure that the motor vehicle is operated properly. The Florida Supreme Court expressed this rationale in the first of the <u>Southern Cotton Oil</u> <u>Co.</u> cases:

The liability grows out of the obligation of the owner (of the motor vehicle) to have the vehicle . . properly operated when it is by his authority on the public highway.

Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co., 73 Fla. 432, 74 So. 975, 978 (Fla. 1917). The rationale has been underscored by the courts many times since. For example, in <u>Union Air Conditioning</u>, Inc.

 $^{^{3}}$ In the <u>Southern Cotton Oil Co.</u> cases, the Supreme Court of Florida applied "an old and well settled principle" (the "dangerous instrumentality'' doctrine) to "new conditions" (automobiles) 86 So. 631, and became one of the few jurisdictions to judicially extend the dangerous instrumentality doctrine to Most courts, absent statute, have include motor vehicles. declined to extend the dangerous instrumentality doctrine to include motor vehicles. <u>See</u> 74 ARL 3d 739, 744; <u>Neubrand v.</u> <u>Craft</u>, 151 N.W. 455 (Iowa 1915); <u>Fisher v. Fletcher</u>, 133 N.E. 834 (Ind. 1922); Ekloff v. Waterston, 285 P. 201 (Or. 1930); Orose v. Hodge Drive it Yourself Co., Inc., 9 N.E. 2d 671 (Ohio 1937); Hertz Driv-Ur-Self System of Colorado v. Hendrickson, 121 P.2d 483 (Colo. 1942); Jahn v. O'Neill and VIP Car Rental. Inc., 475 A.2d 837 (Pa. Super. 1984); Wolford v. Scott Nickels Bus. Co., 257 S.W. 2d 594 (Ky. 1953); and Kline v. Wheels by Kinney, Inc., 464 F.2d 184 (4th Cir, 1972). While the above cited cases and authority are not meant to be an exhaustive treatise on the subject, it seems from a review of these cases that Florida is in the minority in judicially extending liability to owners of automobiles based purely upon the fact of ownership.

<u>v. Troxtell</u>, 445 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the court stated that the dangerous instrumentality doctrine puts the burden of liability on the owner of the automobile for injuries to <u>third</u> <u>parties</u> because the owner has the <u>"capacity to protect the safety</u> of the public by not relinguishing control of the vehicle to <u>another."</u> Id. at 1058 (emphasis supplied).

The <u>Raydel</u> Exception A Bailee of a Vehicle who Permits a Third Party to Drive it Cannot Recover Against the Owner for Injuries Sustained while the Bailee **is** a Passenger in the Vehicle

Under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the vicarious liability of the owner only extends to <u>third parties</u> injured by the negligent operation of the vehicle. The dangerous instrumentality doctrine does **not** allow the driver of an automobile who is operating it with the owner's consent to hold the owner liable for injuries sustained by the driver because of his own negligent operation of the automobile. Florida Power and Similarly Light Co. v. Price, 170 So.2d 293, 294 (Fla. 1964). the Supreme Court of Florida has held that a bailee cannot hold an owner liable for injuries sustained by the bailee while he is a passenger in the owner's automobile. Raydel, Ltd. v. Medcalfe, 178 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1965).

In <u>Ravdel</u> the owners of the automobile entrusted the vehicle to Mr. and Mrs. Medcalfe jointly. Mr. Medcalfe negligently operated the car causing an accident which injured Mrs. Medcalfe who at the time was riding in the car as a passenger. The Supreme Court of Florida held that Mrs. Medcalfe could not

-7-

recover from the owners under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine:

It is well recognized that an owner of an automobile is not liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for injuries sustained by the driver of the automobile to whom he entrusted it because of the driver's negligent operation of it.

*

The same rule applies where a bailee <u>instead</u> of <u>driving</u> the <u>automobile</u> <u>himself</u> permits a third party to <u>drive</u> it for <u>him</u> and <u>is</u> <u>injured</u> by the <u>driver's</u> <u>negligence</u> while a <u>passenger</u> in the car.

<u>Id.</u> at 572 (emphasis supplied). When a bailee permits someone to drive the motor vehicle and the bailee is injured because of the driver's negligence, the bailee is prohibited from recovering against the owner.

It is this principle announced in <u>Ravdel</u>, and expressed by the Third District in State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Clauson, 511 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), that forms the legal basis for the trial court's order granting summary judgment. Applying the <u>Ravdel</u> rule to the facts presently before this Court: an owner of automobile is not liable under an the dangerous instrumentality doctrine "where a bailee (Shedrick Almon) instead of driving the automobile himself permits a third party (Bill Wise) to drive it for him and is injured by the driver's negligence while a passenger in the car." Ravdel. Ltd. v.

<u>Medcalfe</u>, 178 So.2d 569, 572 (Fla. **1965).⁴** See State Farm Mut. <u>Auto. Ins. Co. v. Clauson</u>, 511 So.2d 1085, 1086 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

The Rationale Underlying the Ravdel Exception is that a Bailee who has Control over the Vehicle is Himself Responsible, and thus Liable, for the Negligent Operation of the Vehicle and Therefore cannot Recover Against the Owner

The <u>Ravdel</u> exception rests upon two related principles: (1) the concept that an automobile is a dangerous instrumentality and, as a matter of public policy, anyone having possession and control over the vehicle should be held responsible for the manner in which the car is used by anyone with his knowledge or consent, <u>see Southern Cotton Oil v. Anderson</u>, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920); (2) concomitantly, when injury occurs to a person who has been given possession and control over the vehicle, and thus legal responsibility for its use, that person cannot hold the owner liable for his injuries. The first principle was explained by the court in <u>Ravdel</u> as follows:

As is readily apparent from a careful analysis of the foregoing decisions, the

⁴The same result was reached by the court in <u>Devlin v.</u> Florida Rent-A-Car, Inc., 454 \$0.2d 787 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). James Devlin rented an automobile from Florida Rent-A-Car. While in route to Miami, Devlin allowed his passenger Thomas Palmer to drive the car, and, because of Palmer's alleged negligent operation, the automobile left the road, struck a tree and Devlin was injured. Devlin attempted to hold the owner of the vehicle, Florida Rent-A-Car, vicariously liable for the negligent The Fifth District Court of Appeal operation of the vehicle. recognized the exception to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine set forth in Raydel and held that "where, as here, the bailee is injured by the negligence of another to whom the bailee has entrusted the driving of the automobile" the injured bailee cannot recover from the owner of the vehicle. <u>Id</u>, at 788.

question of liability of a bailee for the negligent operation of a motor vehicle in its possession and under its dominion and control, even though by a person to whom possession had been entrusted by the bailee, is not dependent upon ownership nor the particular legal relationship with exists between the possessor and the owner. The rationale for each of the foregoing decisions adopts as a criteria for determining liability whether or not the person charsed had possession of and dominion and control over the vehicle at the time negligent operation caused the damases forming the subject matter of the suit. If so, liability imposed even though the negligent is operation of the vehicle was by some third person to whom it was temporarily entrusted.

Id. at 571 (emphasis supplied) (citations omitted). When the owner of a car loans it to someone, and that person in turn lets someone else drive the car, if the driver negligently causes an accident injuring a third party, not only is the owner of the vehicle liable but the bailee who exercised dominion and control over the vehicle (and allowed someone else to drive it) is also liable--the driver's negligence is imputed to the bailee as well as the owner.

Concomitantly, if the bailee is himself injured by the negligent driving of someone whom he permitted to drive the car, the bailee cannot recover from the owner because the bailee is prevented from imputing the negligence of the driver to the owner since the bailee, who himself had dominion and control over the vehicle, was the very person who permitted the negligent driver to drive the car. <u>Raydel</u> stated this principle as follows:

Mr. Medcalfe cannot impute to petitioners, the owners of the car, the negligent operation of it by her husband, since with her husband she had been jointly entrusted with the car. Unless the negligent driving can be imputed in law to an owner there can be no recovery from the owner. Not only was Mrs. Medcalfe jointly entrusted with the car by the owners, but at the time of the accident it is **quite** apparent that as one so entrusted with the possession of the car she in turn was consentins to its being driven for her personal benefit by her husband.

Id. at 571, 572 (emphasis supplied).

The Rule that a Bailee cannot Recover Against the Owner Applies even though the Injured Bailee is a Sub-bailee who Obtained the Car from Intervening Bailees

There is no substantive difference between the situation in <u>Raydel</u> and the situation where the injured party is a sub-bailee who obtained possession of the car from an intervening bailee. In State Farm Mut. Auto. Insurance Co. v. Clauson, 511 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), Mrs. Clauson's employer leased an automobile from We Try Harder. The employer then loaned the automobile to her as part of Mrs. Clauson's compensation for her full-time, While returning from a social event, Mrs. unrestricted use. Clauson was riding as a passenger in the vehicle which she had allowed her husband to drive. He did so negligently and she was injured. Under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine Mrs. Clauson attempted to hold State Farm liable for uninsured coverage based on the asserted motorist liability of the vehicle's owner, We Try Harder. The court held that Mrs. Clauson was not legally entitled to collect from We Try Harder. Relying upon Ravdel and Devlin, the court stated that "it is clearly established that an injured bailee of a vehicle cannot recover

-11-

from the owner of the vehicle for injuries caused by the negligent operation of her own sub-bailee." Id. at 1086. The court explained the reason for this principle of law:

To the same extent as the owner, a bailee (or sub-bailee) of a motor vehicle is liable to third persons under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for the negligence of one to whom he has entrusted it. Thus, if Mr. Clauson had injured a pedestrian or another driver, not only We Try Harder but Mrs. Clauson (and her employer as well) would responsible vicariously for his be In the present instance, negligence. however, in which the bailee, Mrs. Clauson, has, in effect, sued We Try Harder for Mr. Clauson's neslisence, she is barred by the fact that his neslisence is imputed directly to her and is, as it were, stopped on its attempted way up the chain of responsibility before it reaches the owner. Looking at it another way, the husband's negligent driving is imputed to both the plaintiff and the owner-defendant. She is as much--if not, as the immediate bailee, more--responsible for his conduct as the "defendant" We Try Harder. Two Florida cases directly apply these principles and hold, as we do in following them, that the bailee cannot succeed in such a situation. Ravdel, Ltd. v. Medcalfe, 178 So.2d at 572; Devlin v. Florida Rent-A-Car, Inc., 454 So.2d at 787.

<u>Id.</u> at 1086 (emphasis supplied). The court specifically considered and rejected the argument that there should be a different result because Mrs. Clauson, the injured bailee, was herself a sub-bailee who obtained the car from an intervening lessee-bailee, her employer: "Finally, we reject the plaintiff's claim that this rule does not apply because, unlike <u>Ravdel</u> and <u>Devlin</u>, the injured bailee secured the car from an intervening lessee-bailee, her employer, rather than directly from the owner.

-12-

Applying the principles discussed already, this fact cannot make any legal difference." Id. at 1087.

The facts in the <u>Clauson</u> case parallel the controlling facts in the instant case:

<u>Enterprise</u>

<u>Clauson</u>

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