0/a 9-11-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JIII 18 1989

CLERK SUMMEME COURT

Deputy Clark

ENTERPRISE LEASING COMPANY, a corporation,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 73,651

vs.

SHEDRICK ALMON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WILLIS AND WEINBAUM

ROBERT STUART WILLIS uFlorida Bar No. 153152 STEPHEN J. WEINBAUM uFlorida Bar No. 222021 503 East Monroe Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision below simply and correctly held that the instant facts did not conclusively establish Respondent's "bailee" status at the time of the accident, so that a jury decision was required, not a summary judgment. Petitioner's contention that such decision is irreconcilable with State Farm Mutual Automobile
Insurance Company vs. Clauson, 511 So.2d 1085, 1087 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987 and Raydel, Ltd. vs. Medcalfe, 178 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1965) is demonstrably incorrect.

Respondent has no quarrel with <u>Clauson</u> or <u>Raydel</u>. Both, however, involved indisputable (and, therefore, undisputed) evidence that the plaintiff was the vehicle owner's bailee at the time of the accident. Thus, neither court had occasion to consider whether or when, for purposes of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, an arguable "bailee" relationship might terminate.

Here, on the other hand, the evidence as to Respondent's status as a bailee at the time of the accident is equivocal at best. Consequently, the First District followed its prior decision in Toner vs. G & C Ford Company, 249 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), cert. dismissed, 263 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1972), which involved similar facts, and held that summary judgment was inappropriate.

Although Petitioner and Amicus Curiae assail the <u>Toner</u> decision, it is clear that the First District was (as it is here) entirely faithful to the intent of the dangerous instrumentality

doctrine, and that its holding was not precluded by <u>Raydel</u> or any other case. In fact, although a conflict with <u>Raydel</u> was asserted, this court dismissed certiorari in <u>Toner</u>.

The applicability of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is a matter of policy, not culpability. The original intent was to insure the public against inevitable injury, so any exceptions to an owner's liability should be narrowly drawn. In Clauson and Raydel, for instance, the plaintiffs were not only the owner's bailees, but were the negligent drivers' spouses. Since the dangerous instrumentality doctrine was meant for protection, not unjust enrichment, those decisions are correct as a matter of policy. But Petitioner's argument that, therefore, no "bailee" can ever recover, is not supported by the case law or the underlying policy.

Respondent submits that, under the particular facts of this case surrounding his brief use of the vehicle, he was (at the time of the accident) within that class of persons meant for protection by the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. And, as demonstrated herein, affirmance here would not expose vehicle owners to limitless liability, as Petitioner fears.

Summary judgment is not a substitute for a trial, and should never be granted where there is any doubt as to the existence of a material fact dispute. <u>Fletcher vs. Petman Enterprises, Inc.</u>, 324 So.2d 135 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975). The First District correctly held that, on these facts, a jury should decide whether Respondent was a bailee at the time of his injury. The decision below should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DECISION BELOW CORRECTLY HELD THAT A JURY ISSUE EXISTS AS TO WHETHER RESPONDENT WAS PETITIONER'S BAILEE AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT, SO THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH CLAUSON OR RAYDEL.
 - A. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company vs. Clauson, 511 So.2d 1085, 1087, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987)

Petitioner depends for jurisdiction on an asserted conflict between the decision below and State Farm Mutual Automobile
Insurance company vs. Clauson, 511 So.2d 1085, 1087 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987). Therefore, the shortest route to the issues here begins with a comparison of the instant case with Clauson. As will become apparent, neither Clauson nor any other case holds that a jury can never decide a bailment issue. On the other hand, Respondent's right to attempt to convince a jury that he should recover is supported by the case law, as well as the policy of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

While the following argument is couched in a consideration of conflict jurisdiction, such discussion in this case necessarily includes the <u>merits</u>. That is to say, whether a sufficient conflict exists may depend on whether (as Respondent contends) the facts are sufficient for a jury resolution of the bailment issue. Therefore, Respondent's arguments as to jurisdiction and the merits are interwoven.

The crux of Petitioner's argument is that <u>Clauson</u> and <u>Raydel</u>, Ltd. vs. Medcalfe, 178 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1965), specifically held

that: "a bailee or a sub-bailee of a vehicle who permits a third party to drive the vehicle cannot recover against the owner' for the driver's negligence. (Petitioner's Initial Brief, pages 3-4.)

That characterization of <u>Clauson</u> and <u>Raydel</u> is correct, but <u>only if</u> the injured Plaintiff was in fact a bailee at the time of the accident, which was <u>assumed</u> in those cases. In neither case were there facts to support any inference that the bailment had terminated, and <u>so</u> neither court considered the issue. Recovery was correctly denied as a matter of law. In contrast here, Respondent has actively litigated the issue of his status as a bailee, based on his minimal connection to the vehicle.

Petitioner argues that, "under the undisputed facts of the present case, it is impossible to reconcile the First District's holding in the case below with the Third District's holding in Clauson." (Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 14.) However, Petitioner's rendition of the "controlling facts," in a chart comparing Clauson (at page 13), recounts only the transfers of the vehicle, and simply ignores the more specific circumstances involved.

A closer look at the facts shows that this case is much more like <u>Toner vs. G & C Ford Company</u>, 249 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), <u>cert. dismissed</u>, 263 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1972), than <u>Clauson</u>.

The <u>Toner</u> facts will be discused in detail later. For now, a basic comparison is instructive. Shedrick Almon got the car from his brother, who had gotten it from Olivia Adams. (Deposition of Respondent, pages 37-38.) Thus, his relationship with the

original bailee (Adams) was attenuated from the start, like David Toner's relationship with Senator Pope, and unlike Mrs. Clauson's relationship with her employer. Moreover, in this case Wise, the driver, had been off on a social jaunt of his own, again more like McGowan (the driver in Toner), and unlike the Plaintiff's husband in Clauson. Finally, like David Toner, Respondent Shedrick Almon had surrendered control of the vehicle well before the accident, and was asleep in the car.

These are some of the facts that create a jury issue here where there was none in <u>Clauson</u>, and which Petitioner omits in arguing the similarity of these cases.

Petitioner also maintains that the decision below conflicts with the "chain of command" rationale of <u>Clauson</u> and <u>Raydel</u>

(Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 18). Essentially, this theory would prevent liability when the Plaintiff is in the chain of bailment.

Once again, Respondent submits that this <u>assumes</u> the issue of whether the Plaintiff was still a bailee at the time in question. Actually, the First District's decision herein does not tamper with the "chain of command" principle, it simply allows a jury to decide whether, on these facts, Respondent was still <u>in</u> that chain at the time of the accident. And in that respect, it is noteworthy that Petitioner concedes that the First District <u>agreed</u> with the rules of law applied in <u>Clauson</u> and <u>Raydel</u>, but argues

that the different <u>result</u> creates the conflict for this Court's jurisdiction. (Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 19.)

Finally as to <u>Clauson</u>, the First District opinion herein distinguished that case in favor of the <u>Toner</u> precedent:

In the present case the Court relied on <u>Clauson</u> in granting summary judgment for Appellee. As in <u>Clauson</u>, the Court below noted the open bailment arrangement in <u>Toner</u>. However, we do not deem this single factor to be critical to the Toner decision.

Shedrick Almon vs. Enterprise Leasing, 537 So.2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

In support of certiorari, Petitioner cites <u>Hastings vs.</u>

Osius, 104 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1958) for the proposition that
jurisdiction can arise from conflicting rules of law, or
conflicting results (Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 19).

However, the <u>Hastings</u> Court also observed that conflict
jurisdiction is confined to "cases where there is a real and
embarrassing conflict of opinion and authority between decisions."

Hastings, supra, 104 So.2d at 22, citing Ansin vs. Thurston, 101
So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958).

Respondent submits that whether a genuine conflict exists here depends on this Court's view of the merits. In that respect, respondent maintains that the facts herein surrounding his use of the vehicle are simply not so clear as to warrant removal of that issue from the jury. If this Court agrees with that position, as the First District did, there is no conflict with either <u>Clauson</u> or <u>Raydel</u>.

B. Raydel, Ltd. vs. Medcalfe, 178 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1965)

Petitioner's entire argument in this case, on jurisdiction as well as the merits, admittedly has its roots in <u>Raydel vs.</u>

Medcalfe, 178 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1965):

The Court's decision in <u>Clauson</u> is grounded upon the law set forth by the Supreme Court of Florida in <u>Raydel</u>. Therefore, not only does the First District's opinion in the Court below conflict with <u>Clauson</u>, the First District's decision also conflicts with Raydel.

(Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 14.) Accordingly, a close examination of Raydel is in order.

At the time Raydel was decided, there were already two recognized exceptions to the application of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine in Florida to automobile cases. The first was that an owner was not liable if a theft or conversion of the automobile had occurred. See Susco Car Rental System of Florida vs. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959); Avis Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc. vs. Garmis, 440 So.2d 1311 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983). Arguably, however, a theft or conversion situation is not really an exception as such, since an owner's liability is predicated upon his voluntarily relinquishing his automobile to another.

Sper, Susco Car Rental System of Florida vs. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959); Union Air Conditioning, Inc. vs. Troxtell, 445 So.2d 1057, 1058 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984), review denied, 453 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1984).

That is not to say, however, that an owner is only liable for the negligence of his authorized driver. In <u>Susco vs. Leonard</u>, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), this Court held that a car rental contract which specifically prohibited third-party driving would not save an owner from liability in such situations. The Court explained as follows:

In the final analysis, while the rule governing liability of an owner of a dangerous agency who permits it to be used by another is based on consent, the essential authority or consent is simply consent to the use or operation of such an instrumentality beyond his own immediate control. Only to that limited extent is the issue pertinent when members of the public are injured by its operation, and only in a situation where the vehicle is not in operation pursuant to his authority, or where he has in fact been deprived of the incidents of ownership, can such an owner escape responsibility.

<u>Id</u>. at 837.

In a subsequent case, the Third District made it clear that even a bailee's gross violation of an owner's instructions would not amount to a "theft or conversion'' sufficient to absolve the owner of liability. Avis Rent-A-Car, Inc., vs. Garmis, 440 So.2d 1311, 1313 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983). Therefore, Petitioner's frequent reference (in its initial brief) to its contractual prohibition of third-party drivers is legally irrelevent.

In any event, the <u>second</u> so-called exception to an owner's liability occurs when an automobile is delivered to a service station for repairs. In those circumstances, it has consistently been held that, unless somehow negligent himself, an owner is not

responsible for the actions of service station employees. <u>See</u>

<u>Castillo vs. Bickley</u>, 363 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1978); <u>Petite vs. Welch</u>,

167 So.2d 20 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1964); <u>Fry vs. Robinson Printers</u>, 155

So.2d 645 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1963).

It was in <u>Raydel vs. Medcalfe</u> that this Court addressed the <u>third</u> situation of an automobile owner's non-liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, which might be called "the injured bailee." In that case, Alice Soper personally loaned a car belonging to her own corporation (Raydel) to her household servants, the Medcalfes, for their daily use. The latter took a day off to go fishing, and Mrs. Medcalfe was injured by her husband's negligent driving. She sued her employer as well as Raydel. The trial court granted a summary judgment for the Plaintiff on liability, and the case was tried on damages alone. The Third District affirmed, but this Court took a different view.

After reviewing the facts, the <u>Raydel</u> Court expressed the (third) so-called exception as follows:

For example, this exception would appear to be supported by the principle of law that the driver of an automobile which was entrusted to him by its owner cannot hold the owner liable for injuries sustained by the driver arising from his own negligent operation of the automobile.

178 So.2d at 572, citing <u>Florida Power and Light Co. vs. Price</u>,
170 So.2d 293, 298 (Fla. 1964). Obviously, this makes perfect
sense. If public policy dictates that an owner be held liable for
allowing others to operate an automobile, then the party who
initially puts it in operation on the public highways clearly

should not be the <u>beneficiary</u> of that principle. The <u>Raydel</u> Court, however, went even further with that exception:

The same rule applies where a <u>bailee</u> instead of driving the automobile himself permits a third party to drive it for him and is injured by the driver's negligence while a passenger in the car. Mrs. Medcalfe was in this category.

Id. at 572.

Again, Respondent has no quarrel with these principles. It is important to remember that <u>Toner</u> came later, and that certiorari was dismissed therein because of <u>no</u> <u>conflict</u> jurisdiction.

The distinction is that <u>Raydel</u> presented no bailment issue:

Mrs. Medcalfe, along with her husband, had personally taken

possession of the vehicle directly from her employer. Her status
as a bailee was quite clear. Thus the Court had no occasion to

discuss whether or when such an issue would be for the jury.

Other courts, considering <u>Raydel</u> and <u>Toner</u>, have observed this distinction, recognizing that liability in these cases may turn on whether a bailee relationship existed at the time of the accident. <u>See Clauson</u>, <u>supra</u>, 511 So.2d 1085, 1087; <u>Devlin vs.</u> <u>Florida Rent-A-Car</u>, **454** So.2d 787 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); <u>Ray vs.</u> <u>Eart</u>, 277 So.2d 73, 76 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1973), <u>cert. denied</u> 280 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1973).

It is worth noting, also, that the <u>Raydel</u> decision was made even easier by the fact that Mr. Medcalfe's negligence was imputed to the Plaintiff both because they were married and on a joint venture:

Respondent was not a 'third party' in the sense ordinarily contemplated in the application of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. She and her husband were <u>co-bailees</u> <u>or joint</u> <u>adventurers</u>, having been entrusted jointly with the possession of the automobile for their personal use. In such status they cannot impute the negligent operation of the automobile by either of them to the Petitioners and recover damages for injuries to either of them arising therefrom.

On the merits, we do not believe the dangerous instrumentality doctrine applies where an automobile is entrusted to a husband and wife jointly and while it is in their personal use and under their dominion and control it is negligently operated by one of them, injuring one or both of them.

Raydel, supra 178 So.2d at 572 (emphasis added). See also,
Clauson, supra, 511 So.2d at 1086 (Footnote 1); Standard Civil
Jury Instruction 3.3f (joint enterprise).

In fact, the First District in <u>Toner</u> recognized these very differences in distinguishing <u>Raydel</u>. Since Respondent contends that the <u>Toner-Raydel</u> distinction parallels the difference between the instant case and <u>Clauson</u>, it is worthwhile at this point to reexamine Toner.

C. Toner vs. G & C Ford Company,
 249 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971)
 cert. dismissed, 263 So.2d 214
 (Fla. 1972)

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